STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000975

Indictment Nos. 1998-GS-46-2847; 2849; 2850; 2851; 2852

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO GORDON,

Appellant

RECEIVED

NOV 18 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Motion to Clarify Status of "Initial Pro Se Brief of Appellant"

And to Stay Pending Resolution of

Appellant's Motion to Be Furnished Transcript

The Respondent makes a Motion to Stay the filing of an Initial Brief of Respondent pending resolution of Appellant's pending "Motion to be Furnish Transcript" dated October 8,

Statement of the Case

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Appeal from an order denying the Appellant's motion for a new-trial based on after discovered evidence. The Appellant and his three co-defendants, Monta Gordon, Terrance McCreary, and Gary Moffat, were all prosecuted in connection with their involvement in the shootings of the victim Erik Krenn. The state's theory of the case was that the Appellant was the shooter. All of the Appellant's co-defendants eventually cooperated with the state and intended to testify that the Appellant was the shooter. The Appellant ultimately pleaded guilty on July 16, 1999, to murder and attempted arm robbery, among other charges, and was sentenced to an aggregate forty-year imprisonment term.

The Appellant subsequently filed a Rule 29(b), ~~scrimp~~, motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. In this motion, the Appellant alleged that two of his co-defendants - Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary - had recanted their earlier statements and asserted that they were willing to tell the truth about the night of the incident. Principally, the Appellant averred that Monta Gordon would admit to firing the shot that killed the victim and that McCreary would admit that Monta Gordon, not the Appellant as previously stated, exited and reentered his vehicle with a firearm.

On March 4 and 8, 2013, the motion was heard by the lower Court. The Appellant, Monta Gordon, and Terrance McCreary all testified at the hearing, with both the Appellant and Monta Gordon testifying that Monta Gordon was the shooter and McCreary testifying Monta Gordon exited and reentered the vehicle he was driving with a firearm. On April 22, 2013, the lower Court filed an order denying the motion on several grounds.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the lower court abuse its discretion and commit error of law when it erroneously found that Rule 29 (b), SCCrIMP, motions cannot be filed by Appellant because he plead guilty?

Did the lower court abuse its discretion and commit error of law when it did not understand the scope of review?

Did the lower court abuse its discretion and commit error of law when it erroneously found that the Appellant's evidence was not after-discovered?

Did the lower court abuse its discretion and commit error of law when it erroneously denied the motion on the merits?

THE LOWER COURT ABUSED IT
DISCRETION AND COMMITTED ERROR
OF LAW WHEN IT ERRONEOUSLY
FOUND THAT RULE 29(b), SCCRIMP,
MOTION CANNOT BE FILED BY
APPELLANT BECAUSE HE PLEAD
GUILTY.

The lower court abused its discretion and committed error of law when it categorically found that Appellant could not file a Rule 29(b), SCCRIMP, motion because the Appellant's conviction was obtained through a guilty plea. See Order at 18-19. However, in State v. DeAngelis, 256 S.C. 364, 182 S.E.2d 732 (1971), the Supreme Court reviewed a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence on the merits even though the conviction was obtained through a guilty plea. The Supreme Court specifically held that "motions of this character should be entertained and granted in order that wrongs done may be remedied". Id. at 369, 182 S.E.2d at 734. The lower court attempted to distinguish DeAngelis by finding that case was decided on the basis of the criminal defendant's failure to attach affidavits to his motion. Order at 18-19. By finding that Rule 29(b), SCCRIMP, motion does not apply to guilty pleas, the lower court erred in ignoring the fact that DeAngelis actually ruled on the merits of the motion and erred in ignoring DeAngelis' clear directive that

Such motions "be entertained" by trial courts. 256 S.C. at 369, 182 S.E.2d at 734. Rule 29(b), scrimp, motions can, therefore, be brought following guilty pleas. The lower court finding to the contrary should be reversed.

**THE LOWER COURT ABUSED
DISCRETION AND COMMITTED
ERROR OF LAW WHEN IT DID
NOT UNDERSTAND THE SCOPE OF REVIEW**

In State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 672 S.E.2d 556 (2009), the Supreme Court held that motion for a new-trial based on after-discovered evidence should not be denied simply because the witnesses supporting the motion lack credibility "because a witness may lack persuasive credibility and still create reasonable doubt". 381 S.C. at 170, 672 S.E.2d at 567. The lower court found this language "confusing and hard to work into its analysis" and then proceeded to find that the motion should be denied simply because it did not find the Appellant's witnesses credible. Order at 21. The Appellant asserts that the lower court committed error of law and abused its discretion because Mercer directed the lower court to look to the nature of the evidence supporting the motion and determine whether or not "reasonable doubt was created" by the nature of the testimony regardless of the credibility of the witness giving the testimony. By ignoring that directive and findings

That the Appellant's motion should fail simply because his witness lack credibility, the trial court erred.
State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. at 170, 672 S.E.2d at 567.

THE LOWER COURT ABUSED IT
DISCRETION AND COMMITTED
ERROR OF LAW WHEN IT FOUND
THAT THE APPELLANT'S EVIDENCE
WAS NOT AFTER-DISCOVERED

The lower court found that Appellant's evidence was not after-discovered because the Appellant had known from the day of the shooting that he was not the shooter. Order 22-23. In other words, the lower court found that the evidence either (1) was discovered prior to trial; or (2) "could . . . in the exercise of due diligence have been discovered prior to the trial."

State v. Spann, *Supra*, 381 S.C. at 619, 513 S.E.2d at 99.

This finding is erroneous as a matter of law because the Appellant's motion was not based upon his assertion that he was not the shooter but was based instead on the newly discovered evidence that both Monta Gordon and McCreary, who were both set to testify against him and identify him as the shooter if he proceeded to trial, would now essentially testify that Monta Gordon was the shooter. Plainly, the fact that they would identify Monta Gordon as the shooter could not have been known prior to the trial because they were going to testify that the Appellant

~~was the shooter at his trial. It is difficult to~~
was the shooter at his trial. It is difficult to envision a clearer example of after-discovered evidence than the recantation of Potential testimony, aside from actually recanted testimony. If the trial court's ruling is followed, recanted testimony can never serve as the basis for after-discovered evidence because someone, either the criminal defendant or witness, would have known the truth before the witness testified falsely at trial. Consequently, the lower court's ruling on this issue is controlled by error of law, Spann, and should be reversed.

THE LOWER COURT ABUSED IT
DISCRETION AND COMMITTED
ERROR OF LAW WHEN THE LOWER
COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED THE
MOTION ON THE MERITS

The lower court found that the Appellant's motion for a new trial should be denied because his witnesses were "fabricating testimony" in a concerted effort to give the Appellant a new trial. Order at 23. The Appellant asserts that this finding is erroneous for a number of reasons. First, the Appellant asserts that the confession of a co-conspirator that he was the shooter would "create reasonable doubt" such that a new trial is warranted. State v. Mercer, supra, 381 S.C. at 170, 672 S.E.2d at 567. FN 1 Second, the Appellant

FN 1 New trial should be granted if affidavits would lead any reasonable mind to inference that newly-discovered evidence probably would change result. State v. Tripp, 130 S.E. 888

Asserts that lower court's misapplication of Mercer infects the factual findings such that the lower court's reasoning for denying the motion cannot be upheld. Third, the Appellant asserts that a review of the factual record, will show that there are inconsistencies in the testimony given by all three witnesses, making it difficult for the lower court's conclusion of collusion to withstand serious scrutiny. After all, if the Appellant, Monta Gordon, and McCreary all conspired to free the Appellant through the giving of false testimony, their testimony should match word-for-word. It does not. Accordingly, the Appellant asserts that this portion of the lower court's ruling is controlled by error of law.

Conclusion

Based on all of the above, the Appellant respectfully submits that this court should find that the lower court committed error of law and abused its discretion. Accordingly, the Appellant requests that this court order a new trial.