STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

ORIGINAL

Appeal from York County  
On Denial of Motion for New Trial  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-000975

---

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2015

THE STATE,

Respondent, SC Court of Appeals

v.

ANTONIO GORDON,

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

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

Antonio Gordon, Monta Gordon, and Terrance McCreary have each pursued their respective appeals and PGR applications. Only now, when all other avenues have failed, do these three co-defendants and relatives make this fantastic new claim which contradicts all of their previous claims. It is obvious to this Court that these new claims are complete fabrications capping off a string of attempts to escape responsibility for the horrible actions of each of these defendants on July 23, 1998.

Order, p. 18 (ROA Vol. I p. 20, Vol. II p. 491).

Additionally, Judge Hayes cogently declared:

**I find the issue of credibility lies with this Court and I find that neither Antonio Gordon, Monta Gordon, nor Terrance McCreary are worthy of belief.**

I find Monta Gordon's testimony that he, not Antonio Gordon, was the shooter in the case at issue to be totally lacking in credibility. This is true not only because he is, in my opinion, innately not credible, but based on the evidence previously presented by all of the participants in this case through statements to law enforcement, testimony under oath, and colloquy with trial judges.

As to Terrance McCreary, even if he were worthy of belief, which he is not, his testimony would only be that Monta get out of and after he, Mr. McCreary, heard a shot, got back into the car holding a gun at both times.

Likewise, I find Antonio Gordon's testimony at the hearing on his motion to totally lack credibility. This is based on the observations below. Additionally, as the moving party, his testimony is self-serving and completely inconsistent with his own previous statements, testimony, and plea, as well as the previous statements, testimony, and pleas of Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary.

Order Denying Motion, p. 20 (ROA Vol. I p. 22, Vol. II p. 493)(emphasis added).

Judge Hayes found the credible testimony of the prior plea counsel of Antonio Gordon, Daniel D'Agostino during an earlier PCR hearing to be highly probative on the lack of credibility of Gordon's claims and why the guilty plea should not be vacated in the interest of justice because Antonio Gordon previously told his counsel of his actual guilt:

Also, weighing against the believability of Antonio, Monta, and Terrance's testimony is the under oath testimony by Antonio Gordon's trial counsel, Dan D'Agostino, that Antonio Gordon confessed that "he did it." ROA Vol. II p. 402, (PCR Trial Transcript page 75, ll. 5-11). This not only reflects negatively on Monta and Terrance's credibility, along with reflecting negatively on Antonio Gordon's, it bolsters Antonio Gordon's plea of guilty and his confessions to law enforcement and the trial judge.

Order, p. 20 (ROA Vol. I p. 22, Vol. II p. 493).<sup>8</sup> Further, the hearing judge analyzed his reasoning as to credibility:

However, here it is for the Court, sitting without a jury, to determine whether a witness is credible or lacks credibility. In the instant case the Court, at least as to the issues material to consideration of Antonio Gordon's motion, must first determine whether a witness has any credibility on the material issues. **Here, the Court finds none of the three witnesses who testified before the Court in the hearing of Antonio Gordon's Motion for a New Trial based on after-**

---

<sup>8</sup> See *Gordon v. State*, 2008-CP-46-4951, Hearing Transcript – December 1, 2009 (Judge Alford), p. 75, l. 5-11 (ROA Vol. II p. 402). (“Antonio, I couldn’t put him on the stand. He confessed to me what happened. His whole –you know, he told me he did it. There is no way to put him on the stand.”), p. 75, ll. 19-20 (ROA Vol. II p. 402)(“You have got his statement that he confessed. I couldn’t put him on the stand because he confessed to me.”)(testimony of Daniel D’Agostino).

**discovered evidence have any credibility as to their testimony that Monta Gordon, not Antonio Gordon, fired the fatal shot in this case.**

Order, p. 22 (ROA Vol. I p. 24, Vol. II p. 495)(emphasis added).

The unassailable conclusion set by Judge Hayes in rejecting the dangerous and false showing before him reflects the proper and necessary application of this Court's precedent and is entitled to deference in this appeal as fact-finding.

. . . Antonio Gordon's claim is that, even though he has, since the day of the shooting, known he was not the shooter, the newly-surfaced exonerating testimony of Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary is "newly discovered" evidence. That the two accomplices now have changed their versions of the events of the night of the killing is new. **Though new, it is not new evidence.** The new versions are dramatically opposed to all of the previous evidence presented by Antonio Gordon, Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary. The Court has already established that it does not find Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary credible and so affirmatively finds their recantations and current testimony to be fabrications. The exonerating testimonies of Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary were not evidence available to Antonio Gordon at the time he entered his plea. However, Antonio Gordon knew the truth at the time of his plea, affirmed the truth to his attorney, affirmed the truth to law enforcement and affirmed the truth to the plea judge. That, for whatever reasons, Monta Gordon and Terrance McCreary are changing their prior, numerous admissions, the change does not create evidence which did not exist at the time Antonio Gordon entered his plea of guilt.

**Here, there is no after-discovered "evidence" of any nature. What is now on the table is two accomplices fabricating testimony in an effort to allow Antonio Gordon to attempt to flip 180 degrees from his own version of the events of the night of the shooting in hopes that he can be tried not as the shooter, but solely as an accomplice or as an innocent bystander.**

Order, p. 22-23(ROA Vol. I p. 24-25, Vol. II p. 495-96). Plainly, where his claim for a new trial is based upon fabricated testimony, the "interests of justice" cannot require a trial de novo.

- I. **Rule 29(b), SCCrimP does not grant Appellant the right to file a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence in a guilty plea setting because the General Assembly has not given circuit courts the authority and statutory jurisdiction to grant new trials for guilty pleas under S.C. Code § 17-23-110 (2014) which is the statutory authority for Rule 29, absent a jury trial, exonerating DNA evidence, or the filing of a PCR application (Appellant's Issue One).**

The first issue is whether a circuit court has the power to entertain a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence, when the motion is made by someone who pled guilty and there was no prior trial. Consistent with the decision of the Circuit Court in this case, the answer is no, because the General Assembly has given the circuit courts no such power under S.C. Code Ann. §17-23-110 or Rule 29(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure. Those provisions limit such actions to trials by jury. Antonio Gordon's convictions were by guilty pleas, not a trial. The lower court did not err in dismissing the action.

Judge Hayes, in his order denying the motion for new trial, initially opined that such a motion cannot be used to challenge the validity of a guilty plea. Order Denying Motion for New Trial, p. 18-19 (ROA Vol. I p. 20-21, Vol. II p. 491-92). The Appellant relies in the appeal upon *State v. DeAngelis*, 256 S.C. 364, 182 S.E.2d 732 (1971) to contend that since the Supreme Court addressed a motion for a new trial appeal in a guilty plea setting, it must always be allowed in his guilty plea setting. However, a review of the issues presented in *DeAngelis* do not support Appellant's position because it concluded that he was unable to make a showing of a condition precedent to allow a new trial motion in failing to file a personal affidavit necessary to satisfy the showing, particularly noting the solemn statements made at the plea further defeated his claim. [As noted below, Gordon similarly has failed to satisfy this requirement]. *DeAngelis* does not support his assertion that Rule 29 is allowed in plea settings where that issue did not need to be addressed in the 1971 denial.

During the hearing below, Judge Hayes immediately questioned the propriety of a Rule 29 new trial motion when the conviction arises from a guilty plea rather than a trial. ROA Vol. I p. 49-52, Motion Hearing Tr. p. 11-14. The Solicitor's office urged that Rule 29 does not apply

in the guilty plea setting because there was no trial. ROA Vol. I p. 53-55, 60-61, 71-73; 75-78, Hearing Tr.p. 15-17, p. 22-23, p. 33-35, p. 37-40. The Appellant asserted that the motion should be allowed in a plea setting. ROA Vol. I p. 68-70, Hearing Tr. p. 30-32. Judge Hayes was correct in rejecting the applicability of Rule 29 in this setting.

Two sources of authority grant courts the ability to hear motions and grant relief: constitutional jurisdiction and statutory authority. The first is obvious: when a court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of a case, it may hear motions related to the case. S.C. Const. Art. V, § 11. After a final judgment has issued and the time for post-trial motions and notices of appeal has run, the trial court loses jurisdiction. See Rule 29(a), SCCrimP, Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR. At this point, the trial court has no more power to hear the matter except as provided by statute.<sup>9</sup>

Petitioner has filed a post-trial motion almost fourteen years after the guilty plea where Gordon waived his right to a jury trial and the potential to confront witnesses against him.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> This answers Appellant's assertion, made at the hearing, that if the State's position were true, than no post-verdict motions could be heard in any guilty plea context. [ROA Vol. I p. 70, Hearing Tr. p. 32 lines 12-22.] While a court maintains jurisdiction, it may entertain any motions. Beyond that, they must be statutory in nature.

<sup>10</sup> In *State v. Munsch*, 287 S.C. 313, 338 S.E.2d 329 (1985) the Court held that by entering a plea waiving his right to jury trial the defendant waived any right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence against him. *LoPiano v. State*, 270 S.C. 563, 243 S.E.2d. 448 (1978) (since we have determined that LoPiano's plea was entered voluntarily and understandingly, he does not now have the right, in post-conviction proceedings, to attack the plea upon the ground that the facts were insufficient to establish the offense to which he pled). See *Rivers v. Strickland*, 264 S.C. 121, 213 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1975) ("The general rule is that a plea of guilty, voluntarily and understandingly made, constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of violation of constitutional rights prior to the plea. **An accused also waives the right to trial and the incidents thereof** and the constitutional guarantees with respect to criminal prosecutions.") (citation omitted). However, "[g]iven the seriousness of the matter, the Constitution insists, among other things, that the defendant enter a guilty plea that is 'voluntary' and that the defendant must make related waivers 'knowing[ly], intelligent[ly], [and] with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences.'" *United States v.*

Petitioner cites Rule 29(b), SCCrimP as a basis for relief, asking the court for a new trial based on so-called “after-discovered evidence.” Rule 29(b) provides that “A motion for a **new trial** based on after-discovered evidence must be made within one (1) year after the date of the actual discovered evidence....” (emphasis added). Read by itself, the rule has no applicability to “guilty plea” convictions because there was no trial – thusly there could be no “*new trial*.” Stated another way, the rule is silent on whether it may be used by defendants who plead guilty (but had no trial because it was waived).

**A. Section 17-23-110 new trial authority is limited to “trials by jury,” not guilty pleas.**

Any ambiguity in Rule 29(b) disappears when examining the source of the only statutory authority for this court rule, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-110 (2014). This statute states that “[A]ll the circuit courts of this State shall have power to grant new trials in cases in which there has been a **trial by jury** for reasons for which new trials have usually been granted in the courts of law of the United States.” (emphasis added). This authority is therefore limited to trials by jury, not guilty pleas. Therefore, a motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29 and § 17-23-110 (2014) does not include guilty pleas which expressly waived a trial by jury.

The General Assembly has provided two very limited statutory exceptions, neither of which applies to Appellant’s case. First, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-28-30 and 17-29-100(B)<sup>11</sup> allows a use

---

*Ruiz*, 536 U.S. 622, 628, 122 S.Ct. 2450, 153 L.Ed.2d 586 (2002) (quoting *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 25 L.Ed.2d 747 (1970)) (alterations in original). Specifically, “a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” *Anderson v. State*, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000) (emphasis removed) (citing *State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)).

<sup>11</sup> Appellant cites these sections to support his claim that it denies his equal protection rights. *Amended Pro Se Initial Brief* at 5-6. However, this argument was never presented to the trial court. *State v. McKnight*, 352 S.C. 635, 646, 576 S.E.2d 168, 174 (2003) (noting that an

of exculpatory DNA evidence in a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence under Rule 29(b) Rules. However, the does not expand those matters but allows their use. Those provisions also allow the results in either a trial of post-conviction relief proceedings when exculpatory DNA is discovered.

Second, a convicted defendant may obtain the relief through an after-discovered evidence claim raised in a post-conviction relief application which does apply to pleas as well as trials, if he satisfies the statute of limitations, successive application rules as threshold showings and the burden of proof. Particularly, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A) (2014) specifically provides that:

Any person who has been convicted of, or sentenced for, a crime and who claims...that there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice...may institute...a proceeding under this chapter to secure relief. Authority to hear PCR applications and grant relief are vested in the circuit courts.

See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-20-30 & 17-17-90.<sup>12</sup> Recently, in a state post-conviction relief setting, the Supreme Court addressed the post-conviction relief after-discovered evidence standard in *Jamison v. State*, \_ S.C.\_, \_ S.E.2d \_, 2014 Westlaw 5358729 (S.C. Oct. 22, 2014). Therein, the Supreme Court stated of the standard in a guilty plea PCR setting:

Guided by the language of section 17-27-20(A)(4) of the PCR Act, we hold that, when a PCR applicant seeks relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence following a guilty plea, relief is appropriate only where the applicant presents evidence showing that **(1) the newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea; and (2) the newly discovered evidence is of such a weight and quality that, under the facts and**

---

argument must be raised and ruled upon by a trial court to be preserved for appellate review). As it was never ruled upon by the trial court, the issue is unpreserved and must be dismissed.

<sup>12</sup> The Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act vests jurisdiction in the circuit courts in collateral post-conviction relief proceedings. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-30 provides that courts that had jurisdiction in state habeas actions shall have original jurisdiction in PCR actions. See also, § 17-17-90 provides that circuit courts in session shall be the courts of original jurisdiction for habeas corpus actions.

circumstances of that particular case, the “interest of justice”, requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated. In other words, a PCR applicant may successfully disavow his or her guilty plea only where the interests of justice outweigh the waiver and solemn admission of guilt encompassed in a plea of guilty and the compelling interests in maintaining the finality of guilty-plea convictions. In so holding, we caution that it will be the rare case indeed where the interests of justice will require that a knowing and voluntary guilty plea be vacated through post-conviction relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence, for an unconditional guilty plea involving an admission of guilt and a waiver of trial and all defenses will generally preclude any subsequent challenge to factual guilt. Cf. *Reise*, 192 P.3d at 955 (finding a defendant may withdraw his guilty plea on the basis of newly discovered evidence only when necessary to correct manifest injustice). Such a determination will not be resolved in a formulaic manner, but will necessarily be context dependent.

*Id.* Compare *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998) with *Clark v. State*, 315 S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993).<sup>13</sup>

However, this power to hear a similar issue in statutory PCR cases pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-10, et. seq., does not change the nature of the remedy available through a collateral Rule 29(b), SCCrimP motion. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(B) of the Uniform Post Conviction Relief Act states that “[t]his remedy is not a substitute for nor does it affect any remedy incident to the proceedings in the trial court ....” However, it further states: “[E]xcept as otherwise provided in this chapter, it comprehends and takes the place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence. It shall be used exclusively in place

---

<sup>13</sup> To obtain a new trial based on after discovered evidence, the party must show that the evidence:

- (1) would probably change the result if a new trial is had;
- (2) has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) could not have been discovered before trial;
- (4) is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and
- (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

See e.g., *Hayden v. State*, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983) (citing *State v. Caskey*, 273 S.C. 325, 256 S.E.2d 737 (1979)).

of them.” South Carolina Constitution Article V, § 4 provides that “[s]ubject to statutory law, the Supreme Court shall make rules governing the practice and procedure in all such courts.” (Emphasis added). In other words, a court rule cannot be read to be broader than the statutes that govern its function. As S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-110 only allows new trials from jury verdicts—not guilty pleas—and none of the statutory exceptions apply, Rule 29(b), SCCrimP cannot be read to authorize a motion for a “new trial” from a “guilty plea” as asserted by Appellant. The trial court ruled correctly and should be affirmed.

**B. As an additional sustaining ground, the Appellant never filed an affidavit that the evidence was after-discovered, as required by *State v. DeAngelis*, 256 S.C. 364, 182 S.E.2d 732 (1971). As an alternative sustaining ground, this Court should strictly construe the affidavit requirement to prevent abusive claims such as this one from being filed.**

Appellant cites *State v. DeAngelis*, 256 S.C. 364, 182 S.E.2d 732 (1971), stating that as this Court heard a Rule 29(b), S.C.Crim.P. motion from a guilty plea in that case, they have decided they could hear them in any situation. However, the *DeAngelis* Court never ruled on whether it had the power to hear a Rule 29(b), SCCrimP motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. Neither party raised the issue in that case, and Appellant concludes too much from this decision.<sup>14</sup> However, *DeAngelis* is additionally dispositive to this case for another reason. As an alternative sustaining ground, the State submits that relief could not have been granted in this case because Appellant never presented a personal affidavit supporting his motion for a new trial that the “evidence” presented was “after-discovered” to him.

---

<sup>14</sup> According to the opinion in *DeAngelis*, the motion for new trial was filed in August 1970. The Uniform Post-conviction Relief Act was passed in 1969, effective May 1, 1969. 1969 Acts and Joint Resolutions, Act No. 164, p. 158.

According to *DeAngelis*, a convicted defendants moving for a new trial must also submit as a condition precedent, a personal affidavit supporting the motion, declaring that "he did not know of the existence of such evidence *at the time of the trial* and that he used due diligence to discover such evidence, or that he could have discovered it by the exercise of due diligence." *State v. DeAngelis*, 256 S.C. at 371, 182 S.E.2d at 735. In *DeAngelis*, the Court held that an affidavit of counsel was insufficient. The Court stated : "[I]t is essential to the consideration of a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence that such motion shall be supported by an affidavit of the accused himself. Unless a valid and sufficient reason for the omission to file such an affidavit is shown, . . .". Here, in the court below, no such showing was made.

Antonio Gordon never submitted a personal affidavit averring to these necessary conclusions that "he did not know of the existence of such evidence at the time of the trial and that he used due diligence to discover such evidence, or that he could not have discovered it by the exercise of due diligence. An affidavit of the appellant's counsel showing these matters is not sufficient." *DeAngelis, supra*.

Of course, he could not have submitted such an affidavit in this case based upon his solemn statements made at the time of his guilty plea where he admitted that he was the shooter and the statement he had given was the truth. See ROA Vol. II p. 7-9, PCR App.p. 246-248, Plea Transcript, pp. 52-54.<sup>15</sup> In particular, at the plea, the following factual basis was presented:

This occurred July 23, 1998, here in York County in Rock Hill at South Jones Street. The Defendant in this case was involved, and of course, sitting in the Court are the other defendants. I had discussed with Terrance MacCreary before getting

---

<sup>15</sup> According to the July 23, 1998 statement Antonio Gordon made to the law enforcement officers admitting being the sole shooter, Gordon stated, in pertinent part: "I had the gun pointed at them and then it went off. I had only shot the gun once before and I don't really know how it works. I wish I could have got the bullets out, but it went off. I thought the guy got hit in the leg. . ." ROA Vol. II p 8-9, PCR App.p. 247, l. 20- p. 248, l. 1. Plea Transcript, pp. 53-54.

out of the car that they would rob Mr. Krenn and try to take the ca. As well as when he got out he took the pistol with him. He witnessed Mr. Diaz putting him and Monta Gordon at the window of the victim's car trying to steal it. As a matter of fact, Mr. Diaz would have testified that this defendant had or that the Defendant at the window had put his hand on the car door trying to open it while pointing the gun at Mr. Krenn. The window of the car being down at that time. This defendant's palm print was lifted off of the door exactly where the witness stated he would have been touching it trying to open it and it was matched and we would have testimony to that effect.

The shot fired by this defendant [Antonio Gordon]. He took the gun back in the car and ran off at that point in time. He's under 21 years of age. And even after his girlfriend Chyneca Dixon did admit to me when I interviewed her to prepare for this trial that Mr. Gordon had admitted to her that night he was the one who fired the shot and she said if she was called she would have testified to that. The State would have produced those things at trial and that is the basis for his guilty plea at this time.

ROA Vol. II p. 137-39, App.p. 381, 120-p. 383, l. 2. Plea Tr.p. 187-189. At that point of the plea, Antonio Gordon declared to the plea judge:

**Q. Do you agree with those facts Mr. Gordon.**

**A. Yes, sir.**

ROA Vol. II p. 189, App.p. 383, l. 3-5; Plea Transcript, p. 189, l. 305. At the sentencing proceeding the following Monday, July 19, 1989, counsel declared that Antonio Gordon always wanted to apologize to Mr. Krenn and declared he was sorry for what he had done. ROA Vol. II p. 143, App.p. 387, Guilty Plea Tr.p. 193. At the sentencing, Antonio Gordon personally stated:

"I'm sorry for my actions that I took place and the crime. I'm sorry for his family. And all the people that I done hurt during this situation."

ROA Vol. II p. 152, App.p. 396, ll. 1-6; Plea Tr.p. 202.

Without any credibility in light of his affirmations at his guilty plea, Antonio Gordon testified at the Rule 29 hearing that he did not know of this so-called "after discovered evidence" at the time of his guilty plea. [ROA Vol. I p. 242-44, Tr. at p. 205, line 13-p. 207, line 16.]. At

the motion hearing, the Appellant correctly acknowledged that at the time of his plea he believed that his co-defendant's were going to testify against him and that he was the shooter. ROA Vol. I p. 242, Tr.p. 205, ll. 13-20. However, contrary to his own statement to the police and his affirmations in open court, Gordon claimed that if he knew that at that plea that Monta Gordon would testify that he (Monta) was the shooter and that Terrance McCreary would testify that that Monta got out of the car with the gun and that no one had discussed the robbery, that he would have gone to trial rather than plead guilty. ROA Vol. I p. 242-43, Tr.p. 205-206. However, this evidence was considered by the hearing judge to be fabricated – thus non-existent. Therefore, he could never satisfy this affidavit requirement because of his knowledge of the fabricated evidence. It was his own speculation in 1999 about whether they would testify against at trial which was at issue – speculation Gordon resolved when he intentionally waived his right to confront the witnesses and pled guilty! However, the witnesses never testified at trial because there was no trial. Antonio Gordon in 1999 admitted to the police, his counsel and to the plea and sentencing court that he was involved and that he was the shooter. It is for this reason that such an affidavit is required as a condition precedent in Rule 29 proceedings.

The affidavit requirement assists judges in ensuring that unnecessary and frivolous litigation it prevents. Strictly enforcing this mandate in *DeAngelis* guideline prevents frivolous and time-wasting litigation—such as what occurred here. No affidavit should mean no hearing, and should also mean no new trial – particularly when his right to confront the same witnesses was waived at the time of the plea.

For each of these initial jurisdictional reasons, the appeal must be affirmed. Rule 29 should not be applied in a guilty plea setting where there is no statutory authority for its

application. Similarly, the failure to provide a personal affidavit satisfying the requirements for a condition precedent under *DeAngelis* further preclude consideration of the new trial claims.

**II. The Trial Court applied the correct legal standard to this case and should be affirmed on appeal. (Appellant's Issues Two through Four)**

Appellant asserts three issues that amount to a contention that the trial court did not correctly apply the legal standard in this case. These three sections are consolidated into one issue in this brief, as they all have the same answer: the trial court applied the correct legal standard in this case. This issue will first set out the legal standard for a Rule 29(b), SCCrimP motion, the *Jamison* standard applicable in guilty plea post-conviction relief cases, then the trial court's factual findings and orders, and finally a discussion of how the trial court correctly applied the standard. As noted above, when the evidence relied upon is found to be fabricated and not worthy of belief, a new trial motion must be denied "in the interest of justice." Since Judge Hayes made such findings as alternative grounds for the denial of the new trial motion as set forth previously, the appeal must be denied.

*Standard of review*

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